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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The New York City Department of City Planning (DCP) is proposing zoning map and
zoning text amendments, and, in association with the NYC Department of Parks and
Recreation, changes to the city map establishing a park, (collectively, “the proposed
action™), affecting the Lower Concourse area of the South Bronx, Community District 1.
The areas affected by the proposed action include all or portions of 30 blocks, generally
bound by the Harlem River on the west, East 149th Street and East 144th Street to the
north, Morris and Lincoln Avenues on the east, and the Major Deegan Expressway and
Park Avenue to the south (Figure 1).

As part of the Lower Concourse project, STV, Inc. submitted project materials to the New
York City Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) for an initial archaeological review
in accordance with New York City Environmental Quality Review (CEQR) regulations and
procedures. LPC responded that there are no further archaeological concerns for the
majority of blocks and lots within the proposed project area; however, potentially significant
nineteenth century archaeological resources may exist on Block 2334, Lots 38, 39,40, 61,
62, 63, and 66 (Figures 1 and 2). Accordingly, the LPC recommended that an
archaeological documentary study be prepared and provided to their office for review
(Sutphin 2007).

The present report, prepared by Historical Perspectives, Inc. under contract to STV, Inc.,
comprises the archaeological documentary study for Block 2334, Lots 38, 39, 41, 61, 62, 63
and 66. These lots are also referred to as the Area of Potential Effect, or APE. These lots
are modern tax lot designations encompassing numerous smaller historic lots and sub-lots.
Originally the lots fronting East 142™ Street and a section of Morris Avenue were part of
historic Lots 277, 280, and 281, whereas the lots fronting East 143"™ Street and another
section of Morris Avenue were part of historic Lots 278 and 279.

The research conducted for this Documentary Study revealed that although occupants on
several of the lots within the project site APE could be identified for a number of years,
the archaeological sensitivity across the entire project site APE is low because
disturbance from construction and demolition episodes is so extensive. HPI does not
recommend further archaeological consideration for the Block 2334 project site APE.

The archival research also revealed that all of the extant houses on the project site APE
were constructed by local builder Thomas Overington over the course of his lengthy
career. Overington began building houses on the block in the early 1850s. The houses
on Lots 61 and 62 appear to have been constructed first, by 1853 and 1854, respectively.
During the 1860s, he constructed the houses on Lot 63 (ca. 1864) and the western part of
Lot 41 (late 1860s). Last, during the mid-1880s he built the houses on Lot 40 (ca. 1884),
the eastern part of Lot 41 (ca. 1888) and Lot 66 (ca. 1884).

Overington appears to have used standard nineteenth-century builders’ plans or templates
for constructing these houses; his advertisements in the New York Times indicate he was
building affordable houses for people of “moderate means.” Additionally, what few



distinct architectural features that originally may have been included in the houses appear
to have been largely lost to twentieth-century modifications. Todays, it is unlikely that
any of these houses would be considered architecturally significant or deemed potentially
eligible for the State or National Register of Historic Places, or for LPC Landmark status.
Even as a potential historic district representing one local, nineteenth-century real estate
developer’s “signature,” their worthiness for State or National Register of Historic Places
or LPC Landmark status inclusion is dubious. HPI therefore further recommends that no
additional, formal documentation is necessary for the Overington houses. However, it is
possible that other researchers studying these types of builder’s enclaves may benefit
from a review of Overington’s structures prior to their demolition.
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PHOTOGRAPHS

. Lots 38 and 39, currently a construction site enclosed by fencing. Note condition of

ground surface from recent demolition. View looking north from gap in the fence
along the East 142™ Street sidewalk.

. House on Lot 40. View looking northeast from East 142™ Street.

- Detail of basement entrance to Lot 40 house. View looking northeast from East 142"

Street sidewalk.

. House at 253 East 142"’ Street on west side of Lot 41. View looking northeast from

East 142™ Street.

. House and deli at 257 East 142™ Street on east side of Lot 41. View looking

northeast from East 142™ Street.

. Passageway to the east of the building at 257 East 142™ Street leading to the back

yard, which is paved. View looking northeast from East 142™ Street.

. Grocery store building (on left) on Lot 61. View looking south from East 143™

Street.

. House on Lot 62. View looking southwest from comer of East 143" Street and

Morris Avenue.

- Two buildings on Lot 63. House is on right and garage is on left. View looking

northwest from Morris Avenue.

10. House on Lot 66. View looking northwest from Morris Avenue.



I INTRODUCTION

The New York City Department of City Planning (DCP) is proposing zoning map and zoning
text amendments, and. in association with the NYC Department of Parks and Recreation,
changes to the city map establishing a park, (collectively, “the proposed action™), affecting the
Lower Concourse area of the South Bronx, Community District 1. The areas affected by the
proposed action include all or portions of 30 blocks, generally bounded by the Harlem River on
the west, East 149th Street and East 144th Street to the north, Morris and Lincoln Avenues on
the east, and the Major Deegan Expressway and Park Avenue to the south (Figure 1).

As part of the Lower Concourse project, STV, Inc. submitted project materials to the New York
City Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) for an initial archaeological review in accordance
with New York City Environmental Quality Review (CEQR) regulations and procedures. LPC
responded that there are no further archaeological concerns for the majority of blocks and lots
within the proposed project area; however, potentially significant nineteenth century archaeological
resources may exist on Block 2334, Lots 38, 39, 40, 61, 62, 63, and 66 (Figures 1 and 2).
Accordingly, the LPC recommended that an archaeological documentary study be prepared and
provided to their office for review (Sutphin 2007).

The present report, prepared by Historical Perspectives, Inc. under contract to STV, Inc., comprises
the archaeological documentary study for Block 2334, Lots 38, 39, 41, 61, 62, 63 and 66. These
lots are also referred to as the Area of Potential Effect, or APE. These lots are modern tax lot
designations encompassing numerous smaller historic lots and sub-lots. Originally the lots fronting
East 142™ Street and a section of Morris Avenue were part of historic Lots 277, 280, and 281,
whereas the lots fronting East 143" Street and another section of Morris Avenue were part of
historic Lots 278 and 279. Figure 3 illustrates the orientation of the historic lots overlaid on the
modern lots. For ease of understanding, the terms “modern lot” and “historic lot” will be used
throughout this report to distinguish between the different designations. This study complies with
the guidelines of the LPC (CEQR 2001; LPC 2002). The HPI project team consisted of Julie
Abell Horn, M.A., R.P.A., who conducted the majority of the project research and wrote this
report; Christine Flaherty, M.A., who assisted with the project research; and Cece Saunders,
M.A..R.P.A., who oversaw the project and provided editorial and interpretive assistance.

IL. METHODOLOGY

Because LPC has indicated that there should be no precontact period concerns for the Block
2334 project site, this archaeological documentary study concentrates solely on reviewing the
specific historic period occupation of and disturbance to the selected lots on Block 2334.

Preparation of this study involved using documentary, cartographic, and archival resources.
Repositories visited (either in person or by using their on-line electronic resources) or contacted
included the New York City Municipal Archives, the New York City Register; the Westchester
County Clerk’s office, the New York City Department of Buildings; the New York Public
Library; the Bronx County Historical Society, and the LPC. STV, Inc. provided current site data
and various maps.



The following specific resources were consulted:

* Historic maps were reviewed at the Map Division of the New York Public Library and using
various online websites. These maps provided an overview of the topography and a
chronology of land usage for the study site.

¢ Deeds and other land records were reviewed at the New York City Register and the
Westchester County Clerk’s office.

e Assessment of Real Estate Records (also referred to as tax assessment records), were
reviewed at the New York City Municipal Archives.

¢ Federal census records, available on microfilm and electronically, were reviewed at the
New York Public Library and on ancestry.com.

Selected city directories were reviewed at the New York Public Library.

Block and lot folders for the APE lots were requested at the New York City Department
of Buildings. However, only some of the records listed on the department’s website for a
few of the lots (namely, Lots 40, 61, and 63) could be located by department staff. No
records were located for the remaining lots within the APE.

* Information about the builder of the houses on the block was found in the historical New
York Times database.

¢ Last, a site visit was conducted on April 15, 2008 by Julie Abell Horn of HPI to assess any
obvious or unrecorded subsurface disturbances (Figure 2; Photographs 1-10).

Occupation research concentrated on the second half of the nineteenth century, as early maps and
other information about the area indicated that the first development on the block did not occur
until the 1850s. This part of the Bronx received piped city water after its annexation to New
York City in 1874 (with pipes laid in the APE vicinity by the 1880s, e. g. Bromley 1882), and
received municipal sewers in the 1890s (e.g. New York Commissioner 1897). Based on these
dates it appears that any shaft features such as wells, cisterns, cesspools, and privies within the
APE probably were phased out by the turn of the twentieth century, if not earlier. Thus,
occupation research concentrated on the period from ca. 1850-1900.

Deeds were collected for all of the historic lots within the APE from 1850 through the present,
and are tabulated in Appendix A. All available tax records prior to 1874 were collected. Tax
records for Morrisania prior to 1874 are filed under the “Old Town Records” and only were
available for the APE in the years 1859, 186_ [specific year not given], 18617, and 1863. After
1874, records were collected at approximately 5-year intervals. Federal census and available city
directory data (the first directories to include this block were not published until the late 1860s)
were reviewed as well. Appendix B presents summary occupation tables for the APE lots,
combining nineteenth century deeds, and available tax assessment, federal census, and city
directory data. Disturbance data were researched through the present time.

III. ENVIRONMENTAL/PHYSICAL SETTING
A. Current Conditions

The Block 2334 APE contains a variety of conditions. They are summarized below, by lot
number.
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Lots 38 and 39 (267 and 263 East 142™ Street)

Lot 38 is a triangular-shaped lot measuring approximately 39 feet along East 142™ Street, 84 feet
along Morris Avenue, and 75 feet along its boundary with Lot 39. The lot, which was originally
part of a larger rectangular-shaped historic lot, was truncated on the east and north when Morris
Avenue was laid out in the early 1880s.

Lot 39 is a rectangular-shaped lot measuring 25 feet wide along East 142™ Street, and about 75
feet deep. It was originally part of a larger rectangular-shaped lot measuring 100 feet deep. The
rear portion of this lot (which once measured 25x25 feet square but is now also truncated on the
east by Morris Avenue) is now part of Lot 66.

Both Lots 38 and 39 currently are vacant. At the time of the field inspection, they were
surrounded by construction fencing and could not be accessed. It appears that structures on these
lots have been recently demolished. and DOB records show that new building construction (for
two new buildings fronting Morris Avenue) is slated to begin in 2008. The ground surface
(partially visible through the fence) appeared significantly disturbed from the recent demolition
(Photograph 1).

Lot 40 (261 East 142" Street)

Lot 40 is a rectangular-shaped lot measuring about 20 feet wide along East 142™ Street, and
about 75 feet deep. It was originally part of a larger rectangular-shaped lot measuring 100 feet
deep. The rear portion of this lot (which once measured 20x25 feet) is now part of Lot 66.

This lot contains a three-story house with a basement (Photograph 2). The front of the house is
set back about 20 feet from the street. The area in front of the building has stairs leading to the
front door (which is one-half story above ground) and concrete paving. The entrance to the
basement is under the front stairs (Photograph 3). There is a fence marking the edge of the lot
along East 142" Street. The area behind this house on the interior of the lot could not be viewed
or accessed at the time of the field inspection. However, aerial imagery and maps of the block
show that the building has a small extension off the rear fagade, and that there is a small yard
area with a one-story garage or shed at the northwest corner of the lot.

Lot 41 (253 and 257 East 142™ Street)

Lot 41 is a rectangular-shaped lot measuring approximately 50 feet wide along East 142™ Street
and 100 feet deep. The lot contains two brick structures, one at 253 East 142™ Street and the
other at 257 East 142™ Street.

The building at 253 East 142™ Street — a dwelling — in total is three stories with a basement
(Photograph 4). The front of the building is one story with a basement, and the rear of the
building is three stories with a basement. Like the building on Lot 40, it is set back about 20 feet
from the street, and has stairs leading to the front door, which is one-half story above grade. The
area in front of the building is covered by concrete and is enclosed by a fence along the East



142™ Street sidewalk. The entrance to the basement is under the stairs. The area behind this
house on the interior of the lot could not be viewed or accessed at the time of the field inspection.
However, aerial imagery and maps of the block show that the building has a one- and two-story
extension off the rear fagade, and that there is a small yard area with a large one-story garage or
shed at the northwest corner of the lot.

The building at 257 East 142™ Street is a combination dwelling and commercial structure
(Photograph 5). The dwelling is two stories with a basement, set back from the street about 30
feet. The commercial part of the building is a one-story deli, with the front fagade situated at the
building lot line along East 142™ Street. There is a passageway to the east of the building
leading to the back yard, which is paved (Photograph 6). The area behind this house on the
interior of the lot could not be viewed or accessed at the time of the field inspection. However,
aerial imagery and maps of the block show that the building has a small extension off the rear
fagade, and that there is a small yard area with a large one-story garage or shed at the rear of the
lot.

Lot 61 (266 East 143" Street)

Lot 61 is a rectangular-shaped lot measuring 20 feet in width along East 143™ Street and 102 feet
in depth.

The lot contains a one-story with basement commercial structure on the north part of the lot
(extending to the building lot line on East 143™ Street) and a two-story dwelling on the south
part of the lot (Photograph 7). The two parts of the structure are connected. The dwelling has a
two-story extension off the rear fagade, leaving only a very narrow L-shaped yard area that is not
covered by any structures.

Lot 62 (268 East 1437 Street)

Lot 62 is an irregular-shaped lot fronting East 143™ Street and measuring 20 feet in width over
most of its 102-foot length, except at the northeast corner, where the lot is truncated by the line
of Morris Avenue.

The lot contains a three-story house with a basement and a one-story extension off its rear facade
(Photograph 8). The house is set back from the line of East 143™ Street, so that there is a front
yard but essentially no back yard. The front yard is extensively landscaped and contains a
concrete front walk.

Lot 63 (383 Morris Avenue)

Lot 63 is a triangular-shaped lot with a frontage along Morris Avenue. The lot was originally
part of two larger rectangular-shaped historic lots, which were truncated on the east when Morris
Avenue was laid out in the early 1880s.

The lot contains a brick two-story house with a basement on the northern part of the lot and a
brick one-story garage on the southern part of the lot (Photograph 9). The front fagade of the
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house is flush with the fronts of the neighboring houses, facing East 143™ Street, while the
garage has an entrance along Morris Avenue. The small triangular portion of the lot between the
two buildings is covered with concrete but appears to have at least a partial basement or vault,
There is a small entryway to the house along Morris Avenue. Otherwise, there is essentially no
open yard area on this lot.

Lot 66 (375 Morris Avenue)

Lot 66 is an itregularly-shaped lot fronting Morris Avenue. It measures approximately 25 feet in
width and 45 feet in depth. As noted above, this lot was formerly part of Lots 39 and 40.

The lot contains a brick two-story house with a basement over nearly the entire of the lot
(Photograph 10). There is a very small open strip of land on the west side of the house, which
measures only a few feet in width.

B. Topography and Soils

The Block 2334 APE is relatively level, with a slight rise in elevation to the north. The eatliest
topographic maps available for this area show that the block was between 0-20 feet above sea
level (Grant 1873; Bien and Vermeule 1891), and later maps showed it at about 10 feet above sea
level (Haffen 1894). Modem topographical maps depict little to no change in elevation over time,
with elevations still around 10 feet above sea level,

The USDA soil survey for New York City indicates that the APE falls within a large area mapped
as “Pavement & buildings, outwash substratum, 0 to 5 percent slopes.” It is described as:

Nearly level to gently sloping, highly urbanized areas with more than 80 percent of
the surface covered by impervious pavement and buildings, over glacial outwash;
generally located in urban centers (USDA 2005:14).

No soil borings have been conducted within the project site APE boundaries.
IV.  LOT HISTORIES
A. Early History of the APE

The Bronx acquired its name only after the present borough became part of New York City in
1895. Although technically named after the river (hence, the Bronx) the name indirectly honors
the first recorded European settler, Jonas Bronck, a Dane who settled there by 1639. Bronck’s
land was a 500-acre tract of this territory, lying between the Bronx and Harlem Rivers, and
approximately south of present 160™ Street (Jenkins 1912:16). Bronck’s house was south of the
intersection of Willis Avenue and 132™ Street (Scharf 1886:769). The Bronck holdings were
sold sometime between 1668 and 1670 to Captain Richard Morris. The Morris house was built
near the Bronck house and later Morris’ mill was erected along Cromwell’s Creek. Subsequent
Morris family members had their holdings confirmed as the Manor of Morrisania. The
surrounding community became known as Morrisania through the ensuing years.



The only commercial industry in the area through the eighteenth and most of the nineteenth
century was market gardening for New York City. Morrisania’s urbanization began only after
the railroads linked the area with New York City. The first and most important was the New
York and Harlem Rail Road, which began service in 1842. This line ran through Morrisania, on
the same route as the present Conrail tracks (Shonnard and Spooner 1900:573). By cutting the
time and expense of travel, the railroad made it possible for people to live full-time in Morrisania
and work in New York City. As a result, Morrisania was ripe for development, and the various
Morris family members were ready to sell tracts of the family land.

Gouverneur Morris II agreed (1848) to sell 200 acres of farmland (north of the intersection of
Third and Brook Avenues) to mechanics and laboring men of New York City. They established
New Village, which was later known as Morrisania Village. Noting the success of Morrisania
Village, Jordan L. Mott purchased land to the west of Morris Avenue in 1849, and named it Mott
Haven. The project site APE is included within the boundaries of Mott Haven, and falls within
historic lot numbers 277, 278, 279, 280, and 281, as shown on an 1850 survey of the area
(Findlay 1850; Figure 4).

Beginning in 1850, Jordan Mott began selling lots within Mott Haven. William F. Berry, an
organ builder living in New York City, purchased historic Lots 277, 278, 279, and 280, whereas
Henry Bunting, also of New York City, bought historic Lot 281. In 1852, both men conveyed all
their holdings to builder Thomas Overington, a 26-year old emigrant from England. Overington
quickly established a shop on historic Lot 277 (fronting Concord Street, now East 142" Street)
and began constructing houses (or cottages, as they often were called), on the lots he had
acquired. The dwellings, which seem to have adhered to standard housing templates or plans
from the time, were built on speculation, usually with funding in the form of mortgages or other
loans from local businessmen, and then sold to new owners once completed. To lure buyers,
Overington advertised the houses in local newspapers, including the New York Times. A
selection of these advertisements is included as Appendix C.

With time, Thomas Overington constructed every one of the extant dwellings on the Block 2334
APE, as well as many of the ones within the APE and on adjacent historic lots outside of the
APE that have since been demolished. The first houses, along Garden Street (now East 143%™
Street) were built in the 1850s, soon after he acquired the lots; several lots along Concord Street
(now East 142" Street) had houses built in the middle to late 1860s, and the final two houses
were built in the middle 1880s. Thomas Overington appears to have maintained his shop on
historic Lot 277 at least through the middle 1860s (although a classified advertisement he placed
in 1852 seemed to sulggest he wanted to sell it; see Appendix C); he later set up an office in
Harlem, on East 129™ Street near the Willis Avenue Bridge, to be near houses he began building
in that neighborhood, and built a house for himself and his family on historic Lot 277, where his
original Mott Haven shop used to be. During the later years of his building career, he appears to
have joined forces with his son Harry, who was a lawyer and businessman who specialized in
land speculation and the building trades.

What the lots within the APE have in common is that they contain houses built by Thomas
Overington. However, their individual occupation histories are different. Therefore, the



following text presents the APE history by lot number, broken down by modern lot designations.
All deed references may be found in Appendix A.

B. Lot 38 (part of historic Lot 281)

Modern Lot 38 is part of historic Lot 281, which fronted Concord Street (now East 142™ Street)
and measured 50 feet wide by 100 feet deep. Historic Lot 281 was divided into two halves: an
east half measuring 25 feet in width and 100 feet in depth and a west half measuring 20 feet in
width (but conveyed with the east 5 foot frontage of adjacent historic Lot 280 to form a 25 foot
frontage) and 100 feet in depth. When Morris Avenue was laid out in the early 1880s it
eliminated nearly all of the east half of the historic lot, leaving only a small “gore” measuring
about 13 feet along East 142" Street and about 30 feet along Morris Avenue. Morris Avenue
also eliminated most of the original rear yard of the west half of the historic lot.

East half

Modern Lot 38 falls within the footprint of historic Lot 281. Lot 281 was sold by Jordan Mott to
Henry Bunting in 1850, who in turn sold the property to builder Thomas Overington in 1856.
The east half of historic Lot 281 was sold by Thomas Overington and his wife to Jacob French in
1856, who in turn sold the lot to Sarah Hawley in 1858. It is likely that a house had been built by
Overington on this half of the lot by 1856 or 1858. Tax records show a house on the east half of
historic Lot 281 by 1859, and Sarah Hawley’s family appears to have been its first residents.

The 1860 federal census lists clerk James Hawley, his wife Sarah, and two sons (one of whom
was noted as a blacksmith) as living on or near the property.

In 1865, Sarah Hawley sold the east half of historic Lot 281 to Abby Patterson, and in 1878,
Abby Patterson sold the same property to Carrie Archibald. The Archibald family appears to
have been living in the house prior to purchasing the property, however. Clerk John Archibald is
noted in both the 1870 federal census and the 1871-1872 city directory as living on or near the
property, and the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s) attributes the house on the lot to
“J.A.” (Figure 5). The house is also shown on the 1882 Bromley map (Figure 6). Tax records
note that the house was two stories high, and measured 21x35 feet.

Marks Arkison, who was also the owner of the west half of historic Lot 281, purchased what
remained of the east half of the lot from Carrie Archibald in 1885. At this point, the original
house had been demolished to make way for Morris Avenue, and Arkison now owned only the
small “gore” piece of land at the intersection of Morris Avenue and East 142™ Street. This small
piece of land corresponds to the former corner of the front yard of the house. The footprint of
the former house falls within the line of Morris Avenue.

West half

The majority of modern Lot 38 falls within the west half of historic Lot 281. Lot 281 was sold
by Jordan Mott to Henry Bunting in 1850, who in turn sold the property to builder Thomas
Overington in 1856. Tax records indicate that the west half of the lot remained undeveloped
through the mid 1860s. In 1866, Overington and his wife sold the west half of Lot 281 to Letitia



Squier, and it is likely that by then the property contained a house. The Beers map (probably
dating to the late 1860s) shows a house on the lot attributed to “L.S.” (Figure 5). Tax records
also note the house in 1874, and in 1880 the records show that it was two stories in height,
measuring 21x 35 feet. It is shown more precisely on the 1882 Bromley map, which also
indicates the future line of Morris Avenue (Figure 6). There is no indication that Letitia Squier
or her family members lived in the house she purchased, as the surname does not appear in city
directory or census records for the period. It is likely that during this time the house was rented
to unknown occupants.

At some point, probably during the 1870s, the property passed to the Platt family, although no
deed could be found formally recording the sale. In 1878 Irene Platt sold the property to Harriet
Griswold, and in 1880 the tax records still attributed the lot to “J.H. Platt.” The 1880 census
notes the household of an Ida Platt on or near the property.

Conveyance records are unclear for this half of historic Lot 281 after 1878, but by 1885 the
owner was noted in tax records as Marks Arkison. The house on this half of the lot was noted as
the same size in the tax records through 1895. Historic maps indicate that the house remained
unchanged in size through ca. 1936, when it was demolished (Robinson and Pidgeon 1883;
Robinson 1887; Bromley 1893, 1897, 1904, 1921; Hyde 1900, 1912; Sanborn 1891 (Figure 7),
1908, 1935).

From 1936 through 1964, modern Lot 38 contained a filling station, which was shown on several
historic maps (Sanborn 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8]). Three gasoline tanks were noted on the
south side of the filling station on the 1946 Sanborn map. Historic maps show that since
demolition of the filling station, Lot 38 has remained vacant (Sanborn 1964, Hyde 1969,
Bromley 1974, 1988).

As noted above, DOB records indicate that new building construction (for two new buildings
fronting Morris Avenue) is slated to begin in 2008 on Lots 38 and 39.

C. Lot 39 (part of historic Lot 280)

Modern Lot 39 falls within the eastern half of historic Lot 280, which measured 50 feet wide and
100 feet deep, with a frontage on Concord Street (now East 142™ Street). Historic Lot 280 was
sold by Jordan Mott to William Berry in 1850, who in turn sold the property to Thomas

Overington in 1852. Tax records indicate that historic Lot 280 remained vacant through the mid-
1860s.

In 1869, Thomas Overington and his wife sold the western 45 foot frontage of historic Lot 280 to
Richard Tyre. [The remaining 5-foot frontage at the eastern side of historic Lot 280 was
conveyed with the western half of adjoining historic Lot 281]. By then, there likely was a house
along the east side of historic Lot 280, and within modern Lot 39. The western side of historic
Lot 280 (now modern Lot 40) remained vacant. The house on modern Lot 39 first appears on
the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s) attributed to Thomas Overington (Figure 5). It
also is shown on the 1882 Bromley map, where the future line of Morris Avenue is depicted as



truncating the northeastern corner of historic Lot 280 (Figure 6). The 1880 tax record notes that
it was two stories high and measured 22x30 feet.

Historic Lot 280 changed hands frequentty during the 1870s and 1880s. Conveyances are
recorded for 1871, 1872, 1874 (two deeds), 1880, 1882, and 1884 (two deeds). Only one of the
many owners appears to have lived on or near the property (Richard Tyre was listed from 1870-
1876). The remaining owners seem to have rented the house to unknown tenants.

In 1888 and 1890, historic Lot 280 was at last conveyed in two parts rather than as a whole lot.
The eastern 25-foot frontage, which corresponds to modern Lot 39, was sold by Thomas
Overington (who had reacquired the lot in 1884 after selling it in 1869) to Ophelia Schofield.
After that time, modern Lot 39 was sold separately from adjacent modern Lot 40. Also, in 1884,
the rear 25 feet of historic Lot 280 was sold separately to form modern Lot 66, which fronts
Morris Avenue.

The house on modern Lot 39 remained on the property until being recently demolished. It
appears on all historic maps in the same location through 2006 (Robinson and Pidgeon 1883;
Robinson 1887; Bromley 1893, 1897, 1904, 1921, 1974, 1988: Hyde 1900, 1912, 1969; Sanborn
1891 (Figure 7], 1908, 1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8], 1964). The maps show that it had a
basement, as well as a one-story extension off the rear facade.

D. Lot 40 (part of historic Lot 280)

Modermn Lot 40 falls within the western half of historic Lot 280, which measured 50 feet wide
and 100 feet deep, with a frontage on Concord Street (now East 142™ Street). As noted above,
historic Lot 280 was sold by Jordan Mott to William Berry in 1850, who in turn sold the property
to Thomas Overington in 1852. Tax records indicate that historic Lot 280 remained vacant
through the mid-1860s.

Although, as described above for Lot 39, historic Lot 280 changed hands numerous times during
the 1870s and 1880s, the western part of the historic lot, which corresponds to modern Lot 40,
remained undeveloped through the early 1880s. This area probably was used as the side yard for
the house on adjacent Lot 39. The Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s) shows the
eastern side of historic Lot 280 as vacant (Figure 5), whereas the 1882 Bromley map illustrates
an outbuilding along the rear lot line of what would become Lot 40, presumably associated with
the house on the east half of historic Lot 280 (Figure 6).

In 1888, the western 20-foot frontage of historic Lot 280 was conveyed by Thomas Overington
(who had reacquired the lot in 1884 after selling it in 1869) to Christina Simms. At that time the
20-foot wide lot contained a house, erected in 1884-1885 by Thomas Overington during the time
the lot was owned by his son Harry Overington. The 1890 tax record shows that the house was
three stories high, and measured 20x30 feet. Also, in 1884, the rear 25 fect of historic Lot 280
was sold separately to form modern Lot 66, which fronts Morris Avenue.

DOB records survive for the new construction on the western 20-foot frontage of historic Lot
280 in 1884, and show that the official building footprint was 20x32 feet, and that there was a



basement under the entire structure, at a depth of 4 feet below grade. It was constructed as a
one-family dwelling. In 1903, DOB records show that the cellar was extended further below
grade, in order to create a third floor of living space in the basement level. The building was to
be converted to a two-family dwelling, with one family occupying the basement and first floor,
and a second family occupying the second and third floors. Plumbing plans from 1903 note that
there was a vault under the front of the house along its western side, at the same depth as the
basement, extending out to the line of the sidewalk, where new pipes were to be laid.

The house noted in the 1884 DOB records is the same building standing on Lot 40 today. While
it clearly has had some modifications over time, according to historic maps there is no indication
that there has been significant new construction on the lot since 1884 (Robinson 1887: Bromley
1893, 1897, 1904, 1921, 1974, 1988; Hyde 1900, 1912, 1969; Sanborn 1891 [Figure 7], 1908,
1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8], 1964).

E. Lot 41 (historic Lot 277)

Modem Lot 41 is equivalent to historic Lot 277, which measured 50 feet wide and 100 feet deep,
with a frontage on Concord Street (now East 142™ Street).

Jordan Mott sold historic Lot 277 to William Berry in 1850, who in turn sold it to Thomas
Overington in 1852. Overington, who as described above was a local builder, appears to have
used this lot as the location for his Mott Haven shop during the 1850s and 1860s, while he was
constructing houses in the neighborhood. Tax records note a “shop” on Lot 277 through the
mid-1860s. The 1853 Connor map shows a square-shaped building covering the southern half of
the lot and fronting Concord Street by this year; it was the only structure shown on the entire
block, suggesting that Overington set up his workshop first and then began erecting houses on
the adjacent lots.

At a certain point during the mid to late 1860s, Overington built a house for himself and his
family on Lot 277, although since tax records do not survive for this period, it is not possible to
determine the exact year. But by issuance of the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s),
an L-shaped building is shown on the western part of historic Lot 277, which appears to
represent the new house (Figure 5). This building is also shown on the 1882 Bromley map
(Figure 6). Tax records beginning in 1880 note it as three stories high and measuring 22x36 feet.
Overington and his family were listed in the house by 1870, and appear to have resided there
through at least the mid- 1880s.

In 1888, Thomas Overington and his wife sold historic Lot 277 to David Hall, who the following
year conveyed it to Mary Tarpy. During the mid-1880s, Overington had built an adjoining,
second house on the eastern half of historic Lot 277, which according to tax records was two

stories high and 22x25 feet in size. After this period, the Overington family appears to have
moved off the block.

Historic maps show minimal change to the two houses on Lot 41 through the mid-twentieth
century, although various outbuildings were shown in different configurations over much of the
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area behind the houses over time (Bromley 1921; Hyde 1900, 1912; Sanborn 1891 [Figure 7],
1908, 1935, 1946).

During the late 1940s, according to historic maps, the front porch of the house on the western
side of Lot 41 was enclosed to form the one-story portion of the building closest to East 142™
Street and the one-story addition to the front of the building on the east side of Lot 41 (now
containing the deli) was constructed (Sanborn 1947, 1951 |Figure 8]). Since that time, there has
been no significant change to the configuration of the main buildings on the lot, although
outbuildings at the rear of the lot have been reconfigured several times. In fact, most of the rear
yard of this lot has been used for outbuildings at one time or another, leaving little yard area
unaffected by building construction (Bromley 1974, 1988; Hyde 1969; Sanborn 1947, 1951
[Figure 8], 1964).

F. Lot 61 (part of historic Lot 278)

Modem Lot 61 represents the western 20-foot frontage of historic Lot 278, which measured 50
feet wide by 102 feet deep. Together with adjoining historic Lot 279, which also measured 50
feet wide by 102 feet deep, there were five sub-lots, each measuring 20 feet in width and fronting
Garden Street (now East 143™ Street).

In 1850, Jordan Mott conveyed all of Lot 278 to William Berry, who in 1852 sold the lot to
builder Thomas Overington. Overington appears to have erected a house on the westernmost 20
foot sub-lot soon afterwards, and in 1853 sold the sub-lot (now with a house on it) to Alanson
Bills. Tax records note a single house on the lot beginning in 1859. The house is shown for the
first time on the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s) (Figure 5). It was set back from
the street so that it was situated in the approximate center of the 102-foot deep lot. The 1880 tax
records note that it was two stories high, and measured 20x24 feet.

This lot changed hands numerous times in the ensuing years. Deeds were recorded in 1860,
1862, 1867, 1868, 1871, and 1874. Only a few of these owners could be located in city
directories or census records for the period, and then only for brief lengths of time, suggesting
the house may have been rented to unknown tenants for many of these years.

In 1888, the current one-story retail building, measuring 20x30 feet in extent, was constructed on
the north side of the lot. DOB records survive for this new construction, and indicate that the
building has an 8-foot deep cellar over its entire footprint, with vaults on the north and south
sides measuring 6x6 feet each. One of these vaults, now under the East 143™ Street sidewalk,
was open and visible at the time of the field inspection.

Historic maps show little change to the layout of these buildings after 1888, other than the
addition of a two-story extension off the rear of the original house by issuance of the 1891
Sanborn map (Bromley 1893, 1897, 1904, 1921, 1974, 1988 Hyde 1900, 1912, 1969; Sanbom
1891 [Figure 7], 1908, 1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8], 1964). At some time during the past
20 years, however, the open space between the two buildings was developed, so that the
buildings now cover nearly the entire Lot 61.
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G. Lot 62 (part of historic Lot 278)

Modern Loi 62 represents the middle 20-foot frontage of historic Lot 278, which measured 50
feet wide by 102 feet deep. As noted above, with adjoining historic Lot 279, which also
measured 50 feet wide by 102 feet deep, there were five sub-lots, each measuring 20 feet in
width and fronting Garden Street (now East 143" Street).

In 1850, Jordan Mott conveyed all of Lot 278 to William Berry, who in 1852 sold the lot to
builder Thomas Overington. Overington appears to have erected a house on the middle 20 foot
sub-lot soon afterwards, and in 1854 sold the sub-lot (now with a house on it) to Philip Heiser.
Philip Heiser owned the property from 1854-1862, and appears in the1860 federal census with
his family on the lot. Tax records note a single house on the lot beginning in 1859. The house is
shown for the first time on the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s) (Figure 5). It was
set back from the street so that it was situated in the approximate center of the 102-foot deep lot.
The 1880 tax records note that it was two stories high, and measured 20x24 feet.

During the remainder of the 1860s, the lot changed hands four times: deeds were recorded in
1862, 1865, 1867, and 1868 (two deeds). Unfortunately, because no city directories of Mott
Haven survive for this period, it is not possible to determine the occupants of the lot. The last
deed from 1868 was to Elizabeth Sanderson, who owned the property until 1885. Members of
the Sanderson family appeared in city directory and federal censuses for much of this time.

Elizabeth Sanderson sold the lot to Michael Kennelly in 1885, and soon after purchasing the
property he appears to have added a third story and perhaps some extra space to the house, which
is noted in the 1890 tax records, the house now measuring 20x30 feet. Around the turn of the
twentieth century, historic maps show that an addition was built off the rear side of the house,
which covered virtually all the remaining back yard. Historic maps show that there has been no
change (o the building footprint since this time (Bromley 1904, 1921, 1974, 1988; Hyde 1900,
1912, 1969, Sanborn 1908, 1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8], 1964).

H. Lot 63 (part of historic Lots 278 and 279)

Modemn Lot 63 contains the remnants of two former historic sub-lots. The western part of
modern Lot 63 represents the eastern 10-foot frontage of historic Lot 278, and the western 10-
foot frontage of historic Lot 279, which together made up a sub-lot that was 20 feet wide and 102
feet deep. The eastern triangular *“gore” portion of modern Lot 63 was originally part of the
middle sub-lot of historic Lot 279, which also was 20 feet wide and 102 feet deep. Both of these
historic sub-lots originally fronted Garden Street (now East 143™ Street). However, when
Morris Avenue was laid out in the early 1880s, both of the sub-lots were truncated on their
eastern sides, forming the irregular shape of the modern lot. Last, modern Lot 63 contains a very
small piece of gore or triangular-shaped land (measuring only about 4x3x5 feet) representing the
extreme southwestern corner of the former eastern 20-foot frontage of historic Lot 279, which
was essentially eliminated when Morris Avenue was laid out. Because this area, which borders
Morris Avenue, is so negligible in size, it will not be included in the following discussion.
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In 1850, Jordan Mott conveyed all of Lots 278 and 279 to William Berry, who in 1852 sold the
lots to builder Thomas Overington. Overington then erected two houses on the two 20 foot-wide
sub-lots that correspond to modern Lot 63. The first house may have been built by 1854, when
Overington deeded the western of the two sub-lots to John Dwyer. The second house was
definitely built by 1859, when he sold the other lot to Edward McGregor, and the first of the tax
records for the block noted a house on each of the sub-lots. The 1860 federal census lists the
Overington household and the McGregor household in adjacent houses, suggesting that both
families were living on the sub-lots at this time.

Both houses are shown for the first time on the Beers map (probably dating to the late 1860s),
curiously both attributed to “H.H.” (Figure 5). They were set back from the street so that they
were situated in the approximate center of the 102-foot deep lots. The 1880 tax records note that
both houses were two stories high, and measured 20x24 feet each.

Edward McGregor sold the eastern of the two sub-lots in 1861 after that period the property
changed hands several more times during the 1860s; the last deed (in 1867) was to the trustee of
heirs of a deceased man, whose family lived in Connecticut. After the McGregor occupancy of
the lot, it appears the property was rented to unknown tenants. When the sub-lot was sold again
in 1882 (to adjacent landowner Alfred Hall, below), Morris Avenue had been laid out,
necessitating the demolition of the house on the lot, which had been reduced in size to the

triangular gore present today (Figure 6). The 1891 Sanborn map shows the new configuration of
the lots (Figure 7).

Thomas Overington and his family moved off the western sub-Iot at some time during the 1860s
and moved to a house on what is now modern Lot 277, as described above. In 1865, John
Dwyer, the official owner of the lot, sold it to Alfred Hall. Hal! and his family lived on the lot
through at least the mid-1870s (they appeared in the 1870 federal census and several city
directories), then appear to have moved into Manhattan, where they were listed in the 1880
federal census. In 1886, Alfred Hall sold Lot 63 to William Burgoyne, who already owned other
property along East 143" Street.

The original house on the western historic sub-lot of modern Lot 63 is still standing, but there
have been a number of changes to the remainder of the lot. By 1883, historic maps show a one-
story extension off the back of the house; this addition was removed in 1916 to make way for the
current one-story brick building now occupying the southeastern part of Lot 63. DOB records
note that the structure, which was to have a cellar and a 9-foot deep foundation, was originally
intended as a blacksmith shop. Sanborn maps indicate it was subsequently used as a farrier’s
shop and then plumber’s shop (Sanbomn 1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8]) and DOB records
note that most recently it was used as an automobile repair shop.

| Lot 66 (part of historic Lot 280)

Moderm Lot 66, which is approximately 25 feet wide on the west and 29 feet wide on the east
along its Morris Avenue frontage, is located within the northern portion of historic Lot 280,
which measured 50 feet wide and 100 feet deep and fronted Concord Street (now East 142"
Street). Until about 1884, Lot 66 did not exist, but instead represented rear yards of the two sub-
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lots that comprised historic Lot 280 (now modern Lots 39 and 40). Thus, until 1884, the history
of Lot 66 is identical to that of Lots 39 and 40, described above.

In 1884, Harry Overington (the son of Thomas Overington) acquired what are now Lots 39 and
40 from James and Mary Barry. Harry Overington then had his father build two houses on these
lots: the one on Lot 40, described above, and a house at the rear of these two lots, on the property
now known as Lot 66. Once completed, Harry Overington sold Lot 66 with its new house to
Maggie Crance. According to the 1885 tax records, the new house on Lot 66 was two stories
high and measured 29 feet by “irregular.” Occupancy of the house on Lot 66 through the end of
the nineteenth century is unclear. The house on Lot 66 has not undergone any significant
changes since its construction in 1884 (Bromley 1893, 1897, 1904, 1921, 1974, 1988; Hyde
1900, 1912, 1969; Sanborn 1891 [Figure 7], 1908, 1935, 1946, 1947, 1951 [Figure 8], 1964).

V. DISTURBANCE RECORD AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL SENSITIVITY

The task of determining archaeological sensitivity across the APE was a three-step process.

1. The archival research documented dates or approximate dates of initial development on
each historic lot, as well as occupancy data, as best as could be determined. In general,
establishing occupancy across the APE lots from ca. 1850-1874 was very difficult, as tax
records were only available sporadically (and did not indicate site specific residency,
only if the person lived in the community), federal census records for this period also do
not list specific addresses, and there are only a few relevant city directories available for
this period.

2. This information was then compared with dates when municipal water and sewers were
available under adjacent city streets to see if occupants would have used wells, privies,
cisterns, or cesspools, which could contain archaeological deposits, prior to hookup to
these services. As noted above, municipal water pipes were laid in this neighborhood by
the early 1880s and sewers were laid in the 1890s. Although after 1874 there were more
archival resources that could be consulted to establish occupancy across APE lots, this
was also the period when it is assumed that fewer archaeological features would be found
in rear yards. DOB records, for instance, note that houses built during the 1880s on the
block had running water already installed, which would negate the need for outdoor wells
and privies.

3. Last, each lot was assessed to see whether subsequent disturbance would have destroyed
potential archaeological resources. Where former buildings with basements once stood,
the likelihood is low that any nineteenth-century archaeological remains, including shaft
features, will have survived.

The disturbance record and archaeological sensitivity for each of the modern lots are addressed
separately, below.

A. Lot 38
Occupancy for the bulk of Lot 38, which corresponds to the western half of historic Lot 281, is

unclear for much of the period prior to 1874. This part of the lot was vacant until ca. 1866, when
a two-story house (with a basement) was constructed. This house stood until ca. 1936. Archival
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research failed to identify any residents of this house prior to 1880. Although a long-term
occupant (John Archibald and his family) appear to have lived on the adjacent, eastern part of
historic Lot 281, Morris Avenue has since eliminated nearly all of this lot. As noted above,
when Morris Avenue was laid out in the early 1880s, it truncated what would have been the rear
yard area of the western half of the historic lot (on which a two-story house formerly sat), and
eliminated almost the entire eastern half of the historic lot where another nineteenth-century
house once stood. The small “gore” section of modemn Lot 38, at the corner of East 142" Street
and Morris Avenue, represents the former front corner of the historic sub-lot.

The disturbance level to the ground surface on Lot 38 is high. There have been several building
episodes on this modern lot, including a filling station with underground gasoline tanks (from ca.
1936-1964), and before that, the two-story house with a basement (from ca. 1866-1936).
Recently, the house on adjacent Lot 39 also was demolished, and the current state of the two lots
is a construction site for two new buildings.

These combination of factors, including a lack of occupancy data prior to 1880, the elimination
of the yard areas where archaeological resources usually would be located by the placement of
Morris Avenue, and the significant disturbance to the ground surface on the lot, indicates that
archaeological sensitivity for Lot 38 is low.

B. Lot 39

One occupant for Lot 39, Richard Tyre, could be traced beginning in ca. 1869, when the original
two-story with basement house was built on the lot (which at the time also included Lot 40), and
continuing for several years into the 1870s and possibly until 1880. After that there were no
long-term occupants that could be determined. The house, with a one-story extension off the
rear, was demolished recently. With adjacent Lot 38, this property is now a construction site for
two new buildings.

The opening of Morris Avenue in the early 1880s truncated the rear northeastern corner of this
lot, and at about the same time, the rear ca. 25 feet of the lot (along with the rear of adjacent Lot
40) was partitioned and sold as Lot 66. A two-story house with a basement was then constructed
over nearly the entire Lot 66 footprint.

Loss of the rear portion of the historic lot to a new street and then construction of a house on Lot
66 leaves very little remaining yard area on Lot 39 that was not built over at one time or another.
The elimination of the yard areas where archaeological resources usually would be located,

combined with the significant disturbance to the ground surface on the lot from construction and

demolition of the nineteenth-century house, indicates that archaeological sensitivity for Lot 39 is
low.

C. Lot 40

As noted above, Lot 40 was originally part of the same historic Iot as Lot 39. Until 1884, there
was only one house on the historic lot, within the Lot 39 boundaries. Lot 40 would have been
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the side yard for this house. In 1884, the existing house on Lot 40 was built. DOB records
indicate it was fitted with running water at the time of its construction.

Also in 1884, the rear ca. 25 feet of the lot (along with the rear of adjacent Lot 39) was
partitioned and sold as Lot 66. A two-story house with a basement was then constructed over
nearly the entire Lot 66 footprint.

Loss of the rear portion of the historic lot and then construction of a house on Lot 66 leaves very
little remaining yard area on Lot 40 that was not built over at one time or another. Historic maps
indicate an outbuilding at the northwest corner of Lot 40, as well as a small extension off the rear
of the house. The elimination of the yard areas where archaeological resources usually would be
located, indicates that archacological sensitivity for Lot 40 is low.

D. Lot 41

Lot 41 was owned by Thomas Overington from 1852-1888. From 1852 through the late 1860s,
the lot contained a shop used by Overington for his construction business. The 1853 Conner
map shows the shop near the East 142™ Street side of the lot, although the accuracy of this map
is problematic. Overington then moved his shop off the property and built himself and his
famnily a three-story house on the lot, by about 1870. Although much altered since that time, this
is the extant house on the western part of the lot. The Overington family appears to have
occupied the house through at least 1880, and perhaps longer. During the mid-1880s,
Overington built a second two-story house on the eastern half of Lot 41, which is also still
standing, albeit much altered.

Much of Lot 41 is clearly disturbed from construction of the two houses on the lot, the front
extension of the building at 257 East 142™ Street now containing the deli, as well as the various
extensions and outbuildings that have been built (and in some cases, demolished) over time.
Historic maps show a variety of outbuilding configurations within the rear yard area of the lot
through the mid-twentieth century. Perusal of late twentieth-century aerial maps (e.g. those
available on OASIS, Google Earth and Windows Live Local) suggests additional outbuildings
have been constructed and in some cases, demolished, in these years that are not shown on
historic maps. In short, the rear yard of Lot 41 appears to have been significantly affected by
multiple episodes of construction and demolition for outbuildings.

Thus, although data indicate long-term occupancy on Lot 41 by a single family, the degree of
disturbance to the rear yard area, where archaeological resources are most likely to be found,
suggests that archaeological sensitivity has been compromised and is now low.

E. Lot 61

Occupancy for Lot 61, which corresponds to the western 20-foot frontage of historic Lot 278, is
unclear for much of the period prior to 1880, although a house appears to have been built on it by
1859. The property changed hands multiple times during this period, and it is likely the house
was rented to unknown tenants during much of the nineteenth century.
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There is little likelihood that any areas of the lot contain undisturbed ground. In addition to the
ca. 1859 house, which is located in the approximate center of the lot, there is a one-story store
(with a full basement) on the northern part of the lot, a two-story extension off the rear of the

house, and an enclosed area between the house and the store, leaving virtually no open yard
within the entire lot.

The combination of these factors indicates that archaeological sensitivity for this lot is low.

F. Lot 62

Occupancy data for Lot 62 identified two families that lived in the house on the lot (which is still
standing) during the second half of the nineteenth century. Philip Heiser. a broker, and his
family lived in the house from ca. 1854-1862, and members of the Sanderson family appear to
have occupied the house from ca. 1868-1885.

Disturbance to the Lot 62 ground surface, however, is high. In addition to the existing house
(with a basement) there is a one-story extension off the rear of the house. Only a small strip of
land remained undeveloped, but it is likely that this area has been affected by building episodes
on Lot 62, as well as on adjacent Lots 41 and 66.

Therefore, although occupancy data for Lot 62 is good, disturbance levels to the lot suggest that
archaeological sensitivity is low.

G. Lot 63

Lot 63 originally was part of two 20-foot wide sub-lots fronting East 143™ Street, each of which
had a house built at some time during the mid to late 1850s. Occupancy data for the western
sub-lot identify owner Thomas Overington and his family in the house in 1860, and owner
Alfred Hall and his family in the house by 1870 (and perhaps by the mid-1860s) through the
mid-1870s. The Burgoyne family appears to have lived in the house at least by 1880.
Occupation of the house on the eastern sub-lot (which was demolished by the early 1880s to
make way for Morris Avenue) is unclear after 1860.

There is virtually no part of Lot 63 that is undisturbed. The rear yard of the western two houses
(which is still standing) has been built over with the present garage fronting Morris Avenue. The
small triangular section between the house and the garage is the former location of the original
house on the eastern sub-lot, which was demolished by the early 1880s. The only part of Lot 63
not developed at one time is the front or northern portion of the lot where the entryway to the
house is located. It is unlikely that archaeological resources would be situated in the front yard
portion of the lot.

Based on these conditions, archaeological sensitivity for Lot 63 is low.
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H. Lot 66

Lot 66 was originally part of the two sub-lots that comprised historic Lot 280. Its footprint
constituted the rear ca. 25 feet of what are now Lots 39 and 40. The house currently standing on
Lot 66 was not built until about 1884, however, and occupancy of the house after this time is
unclear.

The entire footprint of Lot 66 has been disturbed from construction of the house and its basement.
Archaeological sensitivity for this lot therefore is low.

VI. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The research conducted for this Documentary Study revealed that although occupants on several
of the lots within the project site APE could be identified for a number of years, the
archaeological sensitivity across the entire project site APE is low because disturbance from
construction and demolition episodes is so extensive. HPI does not recommend further
archaeological consideration for the Block 2334 project site APE.

The archival research also revealed that all of the extant houses on the project site APE were
constructed by local builder Thomas Overington over the course of his lengthy career.
Overington began building houses on the block in the early 1850s. The houses on Lots 61 and
62 appear to have been constructed first, by 1853 and 1854, respectively. During the 1860s, he
constructed the houses on Lot 63 (ca. 1864) and the western part of Lot 41 (late 1860s). Last,
during the mid-1880s he built the houses on Lot 40 (ca. 1884), the eastern part of Lot 41 (ca.
1888) and Lot 66 (ca. 1884).

Overington appears to have used standard nineteenth-century builders’ plans or templates for
constructing these houses; his advertisements in the New York Times indicate he was building
affordable houses for people of “moderate means.” Additionally, what few distinct architectural
features that originally may have been included in the houses appear to have been largely lost to
twentieth-century modifications. Today, it is unlikely that any of these houses would be
considered architecturally significant or deemed potentially eligible for the State or National
Register of Historic Places, or for LPC Landmark status. Even as a potential historic district
representing one local, nineteenth-century real estate developer’s “signature,” their worthiness
for State or National Register of Historic Places or LPC Landmark status inclusion is dubious.
HPT therefore further recommends that no additional, formal documentation is necessary for the
Overington houses. However, it is possible that other researchers studying these types of
builder’s enclaves may benefit from a review of Overington’s structures prior to their demolition.
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Figure 1: Overall Lower Concourse Rezoning
project site with Archaeological APE
(STV and HPI 2008).
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Figure 4: Project site APE on Assessment Map for the Village of
Mott Haven in the Manor of Morrisania, Town of West Farms,
County of Westchester, New York (Findlay 1850).
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Figure 5: Project site APE on Map of the Town of Morrisania,
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